
UNITED STATES SOUTHERN DISTRICT O}' TEXAS

Vincent Paul Young, Jr. and
Vince Young Inc.
Plaintifts,

v.
Rodney D, Vann66on,
Enos Cabell,
Tom Roberson,
Thejoint venture of "Three F iends"
Defendants,

HOUSTON DTVISION
s
ss
sss
sssss

PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
& REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs Vincent Paul Young, Jr. and Vincent Paul Young Inc, by their attorney of

record, fortheir complaint in this action allege:

1. Plaintiff, Vincent Paul Young, Jr. (VY) , is an individual who is a citizen of the

State of Tennessee. and maintains a business address at

suite 'EXAS 77036

2. Plainiiff, Vincent Young Inc. (VY INC)is a cotpomtion organ zed and exisUng under ihe laws

of lhe state of TEXAS with ils place of business Located at

Houslon TEXAS 77036.

3. Upon information and belief, Detendant, Rodney Vannercon, (RV) an individual

and a citizen of the State of Texa6, who resides at

_exas may be served through his attorney of

record Douglass Rommelman located at 600 Travis, Suite 4200,

Houston, Texas 77002.



4. Upon information and belief, Defendant, Enos Cabell, (EC) an individual and a

citizen of the State of Texas, who resides at

, , Texas

5. L,pon information and belief, Defendant, Tom Roberson (TR), an individual and

a citizen ofthe State of Texas, who resides at

, Texas

6. Defendant, the Joint Veniure ofthe "Three Friends" (JV) is a joint venture doing

business in the State of Texas, may be served with process through its

attorney of record Douglas Rommelmann located at 600 Travis, Suite

4200, houston, Texas 77002

7. The court has subject matter jurisdiction to hear this action under 15 U.S.C.

51121(A) and 28 U.S.c. SS1331, 1338 (a), and 136;

8. Upon information and belief, this Couri has personal jurisdiction over the

defendants.

9. This is an action for declaratory judgment for deiermination of the parties' rights

in certain lrademarks. The action arises under the Lanham Act, 15

U.S.C. SS 1051 et seq. the Declaratory Judgmeni Act, 28 U.S.C. 52201,

and the common law ofthe State of Texas.

10. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U-S.C. S i 391.

11. Plaintifi, \ /, js currently a professional football player in the National

Football League ("NFL") for the Tennessee Titans.

12. After high school, Plaintiff, VY, received a scholarship to play football for

the University of Texas (UT).



14.
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16.

Plaintiff, \ /, licensed his name and likeness to University of Texas to

promote their entertajnmeni services and football program.

The license of his "name and likeness" includes hjs proprietary fjghts to

hi6 nicknames and his abbreviated names.

UT protected Plaintiff, VY, "name and likeness, by sending cease and

desist letters to entities using the name "\ /" and ,INVlNCEABLE'.

Plaintiff, VY, currently has endorsement contracts wherein he licensed hjs

name and likeness to various entities including Vince young lnc which

includes his proprietary rights to his nicknames and his abbreviated

name. Defendants now have knowledge that plaintiff has several

enoorsement contracts,

Plaintiff, VY, became widely known by his nickname ,,lnvinceable,, while

playing footballat University of Texas.

Plaintjff, \f/, became widely known by his abbreviated name,,Vy" while

playing footballat the University of Texas.

The abbreviated name "VY" first came to the identity of ptaintifi, Vy, the

during his highly publicized lootball career at lvtadison High Schoot.

While at l\,4adison High School, Vincent paul young Jr. was named

National Player of the Year in May 16, 200f Student Sport,s Magazine.

The nickname "lnvinceable" and the abbreviated name ,Vy" became

turther known to identify VY during his highty publicized collegiate

football career at the University of Texas (,.UT").

Plaintiff, Vy was named the best coltege football player of 2005 by

College Footba News and was a Heisman Trcphy finalist in 2005.
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22. Plaintiff, \ / was featured on the cover of national sports publications

during his collegiate career, including twice on the cover of Sporfs

Illustrated.

Plaintiff, \ / led the University of Texas, Longhorns, to a BCS National

Championship on January 4, 2006 in the 2006 Rose Bowl Game.

Plaintiff, VY was drafted by the Tennessee Titans in the 2006 NFL Draft

and was named the NFL Offensive Rookie of the Yeaf in 2006. Plaintiff,

VY has become one of the mo6t recognizable figures in professional

football and was featurcd on the cover of lvadden 2008, a video game

produced by BA Sports simulafing NFL fooiball.

Upon information and belief, on January 5, 2006, one day after Plaintiff,

VY led his team to a BCS National Championship victory in the 2006 Rose

Bowl and won the Rose Bowl Most Valuable Player awafds, Defendant, RV,

filed the following intent to use trademafk applications:78/786,069,

78n 86,073, 7A186B82 and 781786883.

Defendant, RV filed intent to use Application Serial No. 78/786,069

(See Exhjbit 7) based on an alleged intent to use the mark

INVINCEABLE for "computer games, electronic games, video

games, computer program games. computer game software,

electronic game programs, electronic game softlvare, video game

programs, video game softwaae" in lnternational Class 09.

Defendant, RV filed intent to use Application Serial No. 781786,073 (See

Exhibit 6) based on an alleged intent to use the matkw fot "Computer
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games, electtonic gamos, video games" in International Class I009l and

for "lclothingl in International Class [025].

24. Defendant, RV filed intent to use Application Seriat No. , 781796882

(See Exhibit 5) based on an alleged jntent to use lhe mark

INVINCEABLE for "Computer games, electrcnic games, video games"in

Intemational Class I009J and for "lclothing] in Internationat Class 10251.

29. Defendant, RV filed Application Seriat No. 78/786,883 (See Exhibit 4)

based on an alleged intent to use the mark "[Vyl,' fof .lposiers,

photographs, pictures, and decalsl" in lnternational Class I076j and

for "lcandyl in lnternational Ctass [030].

30. Prior to the date Defendant, RV filed the foregoing intent to use trademark

applications on the "lnvinceable" and "Vy' marks, plaintiff, Vy was

known in the publjc bythese names that had already been publicized

and used in such an open and notorious manner and associated by ihe

public mind fith Plaintiff, \ry. The names plaintifi, Vy and

IINVINCEABLE unmistakeabty point to plaintiff, Vy.

31. Plaintiff, VYs personalfame and reputation arc substantialand

continuing. The marks VY and Invjnceable have been used in commerce

and/or in a manner analogous to use which created Vy,s p@prietary

rights.

32. Plaintiffs' has a website that offers retail services selling products in

commerce in mnnection with the VY mark.

33. Plaintiff, Vincent Young tNC. filed fo. trademafk on the rights assigned to

it by Plaintjff, VY. The mark incorporates a the letters \ / shield N,4ark.



34. Through discovery in the Notice ofOpposition (Exhibit 10)filed by plaintiff

\ /, he discovered that Defendants' were using a irademaak ihat was

substanlially the same as the VY logo shield in Trademark Application

filed by VY lNC. Conpare Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2). Both marks have a

three pointed enclosed figure with the letters vy contained therein.

Plaintiffs have nationally publicized the use ofVY logo shield.

Defendant, RV, In the Notioe of Opposition stated, in his response to Revised

l'irst Set of Irterogarories number 8 that he "cou1d use thc mark lo creare a passive

conneciion !o Vince Young". See Exhibit'17.

lJpon information and belief, Defendants developed a \A/ logo

substantially similar to VY logo shield. Defendants contacted several

manufacturers and produce samples ofvarious products for use with the

VY and Invinceable marks. Exhibit 16 and Exhibit 14, page 20. Upon

infomation and belief, Defendants are in production of a decal with their

VY logo afflxed in which defendants are testing the market with sevefal

products within several trademark classifications. Upon Information and

Belief, Defendants planned to license mark to i|ldividuals who can use it,

but fefused to provide that infofmation in deposition. However,

Defendant, RV testified that plaintiffVY was one of those individuals and

created samples to directly license to plaintiffVY fof use in commer6e.

Exhibit 13 page 96-98.

On February 29, 2008 during the deposition Defendant, RV, when asked

'And if you found out that someone selling a product with the same

mark. Would you let it go, or would you contact Counsel? RV replied "l
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would think I would have a cause ofaction. lwould think that I would

have a r ight to try and prohibj i  them from doing that." SeeExhibit13

page 96.

38. After sevefal attempts of settlement negotiations and several thfeats of

action, See Exhibit 12, pla;ntiffs have filed this Declaratory Judgmentto

protect the rights of Plaintiffs.

39. Defendant, RV, formed a joint ventu.e on 1/5/2006 between RV, Enos

Cabelland Tom Robe.son in an agreement that incorporates the

following terms: (See Exhibit 11).

"lt is Agreed; Rodney Van|erson, acting for the fespective

lntefest and benefit of the Three Friends, has engaged the law firm of

Andre\as Kurth L.L.P. (specifically, Doug Rommelmann) and filed for

trademark protection for the mark.

It is Agreed; the Three Ffiends consider this agreement a joint venture even

though all filings with the 1,.S. Patent and Trademark Office were made and will

remain in the name of Rodney Vannerson, as an individual. All expenses

associated with the trademark protection and market awareness of the ma&

along with all proceeds generated from the use and/or sale ofthe mafk will be

shared belween the Three Fdends and TheirAttomey based on the following

rights ofownership; Enos Cabell-2s% OWNERSHIP, Tom Roberson-2s%

OWNERSHIP, Rodney Vannerson 50% OWNERSHIP. "

40. RV filed the intent-to-use trademark applications serial numbers 78l7e6069,

78n86883,781786a82 and 781786073 as an individuat. However, RV

signed Applicant affirmed by signature affixed on the joint venture



agreements ofthe "lhree Fdends,'and signed in the presences of a duly

authorized notary, that RV did not own the ma*s at the time he

appt,cations werc filed_

Upon Info.mation and beliel Rodney Vannerson on tne respectjve dates

that applications 781786069, 78t86883, 781786882 andT8/78607 wete

filed, Applicant had no bona fide jntent to use such marks jn commerce

as required by the Lanham Act, .15 U.S.C. SlO51 (b).

lJpon Information and belief Rodney D. Vannerson, made tatse

representatjons when he declared in the filed intenlto{se applications

78/7B6069, 78/786883, 7Bt786g82 and 78]7860Z that the Appticant entity
type was Individual after he had agreed to assign the righis to the

marks to the joint venture of the ,,Thrce F ends,, Thus, Defendant RV
was not the owner ofthe filed foregoing trademark applicatjons ownef of
the mark or the owner of the marks pursuant to Trademark Act S 1(a)(1).

Upon Information and belief, in viotation ofthe Lanham Act, 75 U.S.C. S 1052
( a ), defendant, RV fiied intent ro us€ applicafions 7Bn86O6g, 78'868g3

78/786882 and 78178607 with the inrent ol crearing a lbise cornecion 10 Vy
and tuaerfbring wirh Vy propri€tary rtghrs ro the Vy a i INVINCEABLE marks.
RV did nor obrain Vy pemission to file the foregoing tradcmark applications.

Defendant's foregoing conduct constitutes a violation of Section 2(a) of the
Lanham Act, j5 U.S.C. S 10S2(a), which prohibjts registratjon on the
principal register of a mark which consists of or comprjses .,matter which
may disparage or falsely suggest a connection with persons, living or dead.
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44.

45.

Upon lnfomation and belief, Defendant RV is not connected with Plaintiff

VY, and there is no connection between the goods defendant RV

intends to sell under the marks and plaintiffVY.

Upon Information and beliei because plaintiff VY is of sufficient fame and

reputation in the United States, a connection with plaintiff VY would be

presumed if lhe marks :n the subject applications wefe used 
'n

commerce by defendants.

Upon Information and belief, plaintiffs will be damaged if the marks in the

subject applications are allowed to register because the marks creates

a false percepiion that defendant producls are connected to plaintiffVY.

Upon lnformation and belief, in violarion oftfie Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. S

1052 (c ), defendant RV filed intent to use applications 781786069,

74n86883,78qB6BB2 and 78/78607 witirout ihe consent ofplainliffVY. ,

15 U.S.C. S 1052 ( c ) of the Lanham Aci prohibits regishation on the

principal register of a ma* which "consists of a name, portrait, or

signature identifying a padicular living individualexcept by his wriiten

consent."  The defendant RV marks (VY and In-Vince-able)

in the subject  appl icat ions represent and ident i fy a

part icular I iv ing indiv idual ,  namely plaint i f f  VY, and

plaint i f f  VY has not given his wr i t ten consent for  the

registrat ion of  Lhe mark in the subject  appl icat ion.

Upon Information and belief, the public recognit ion, fame as a

footbal l  p layer,  repulat ion,  publ ic pefsona, and general

awareness of  p la int i f f  VY are s!bstant ia l .  The use and
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49.

registrat ion by Defendant,  RV, of  the mark in the

foregoing appl ical ions were without the permission of

plaint i f f  VY, would cause plaint i f f  VY to be falsely

ident i f ;ed wi th defendant RV, causing damage to the

persona, fame, and reputat ion of  p la int i f f  VY.

Defendants have expended great physical  and f inancial

resources to develop, to market and to brand plaint i f f  VY

image. Defendants conduct has caused Plaint i f f  VY

damage speci f ical ly to his endorsement program.

Plaint i f f  VY f i led t rademark appl icat ion 78/935632 (See

Exhibi t  3)  for  the VY Mark which is current ly suspended

pending this not ice of  opposi t ion.

Plaint i f f  VY INC f i led t rademafk appl icat ion 771332760 (See

Exhib ' tg)  for  the V. Young logo mark.

Plaint i f f  VY assigned name to Vince Young Foods INC for

use of  the logo shield as part  of  mark f i led t rademark

appl icat ion 77l55556 (See Exhibi t  B) for  the V. Young logo

mark.

Count'l - Declaratorv Judqment

Plaintiffs re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 52 as paragraph 53 of this

@unt 1.

As a result  of  dcfcndant 's conduct,  Vinccnt Paul YoungJL. and

Vinccnr YotrnC lnc- rcesonably bclie!c thar Rodney D. Vannerson,
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Eflos Cxbeu, Tom Robcrsoo and/or rhe jolnt venture of Three Friends vi

idc a larvsuit egainst them if &ey co.tinuc to use the \ry and

IITVVINCEABLE mruks to identify the nervly dcveloped product lhes and

mdotscment pro$ams released on thc markct in 20011 and products undet

dcvelopmenr for release sometime in 2009 .

As a result of defendant's conduct, Plaintiffs reasonably believe thal

Defendants' will file a law suit against them if they continue to use the VY

and Invinceable marks to identify VY's "name and likeness", ifthey

conlinle to use the VY mark on products sold in commerce, and ifthey

continue to use the VY mark to identify retail and entertainment services

sold in commerce, and ifthey use VY and INVINCEABLE to identify his

fooiball services licensed to the NFL.

As a tesult of dcfcndant's conduct, Plaintiffs rcasonably believe that

Dcfendants'will frle a law suit enjoining the use ofVY and lnvinoeable

undcr his endorsement contacts thereby interf'ering wiih his contracauai

and propdetary rights 10 use the marks to idenliry VY's'hamc and

likeness". When RV filed the intent to use tlademark application

78/786069, 78/786883 78nA6882 and 7817 8607 he had no bona fide

intent to usc thc marks \ry and Ifl vince able in commerce. RV knew thc

connection beAveerl \ry ind the invincexblc nurks when he filed thc iffenr ro

use applications. Thus, RV 61ed thc marks with dr intenlio. of exnacting

mooey for licensing the marl back to \Y. 1'rademark application 78/786882

has l,een issued a noticc of allownnce. The on!, rcmed\. no$, is a caicelarion

procccding bcfore the fedeml district couft.

56.
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58.

57.

59.

61.

Vinccnt Paul YonngJr. and Vincent Young Inc. also reasonab\, belig.e

thxt dcfendants will wait until the last possible nomcnt to Ele such ai

action, or at n minimum frle such an acrion ar a tine calcLLlared to cteate thc

greatest possible inrerferencc wirh Vincenr Par.tl young Jr. and Vincent

Young Inc. oormat coursc of business.

Defendants'  ongoing claim rhat ptaint i f fs,  use of ihe VyandtNVINCEABLE

marks inftinges RodncyD. Vannerson. Enos Cabe , Toin Robcrson and/orrhejoint

veDture of Thrcc Friends rights creates ar actuat case or conboveNy for purposcs of 28

u.s.c.  $2201.

Defendants' ongoing clarm tirat plaintiffs ate in&nrgiog Rodney D.

Vannerson, Enos Cabell, Tom Robctson and/or rhe joint venture of Thrce

Fricnds'righrs in the \Y n IN\,'INCEABLE martrs djsrupts ptai,rtiffs,

abiiity to condrue to merkct and ptomote product tines and endoncment

pr<grams telcased on the markct in 2008 md producs under dcrelopment

fbl rcle.se somedme ifl 2009. Unlcss the Coutt acts promprl! ro dcclare that

plaintjffs' have rights in the usc of rhe \ry and IN\/INCEABLE marLs, a\c

d;sruption of plaintiffs'iocome and dcvelopmenr of \ry ancl

I.,]VINCE-\BI-F, produd lines and cndorsemcnt pmgiams \viit conrinue to

Unless enjoined and rcstrained by the Court, defendants are likely to

€ngage in conduct that will cause ireparable injury to plaintiffs, for

which tbey have no remedy at law.

WHEREFOR!, Platuriffs pmy rhat the Coun:

(a) declare, adjudge, and decree that use by Vy and Vy lNC,

60.
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and any of their respective agents or representatives, ofthe Vy and
INVINCEABLE trademark does not infringe any rights of defendant RV,
EC, TR and JV;

(b) declare,  adjudge and decree that defendants RV,
EC, TR and JV have no right, ti e and interest jn the following marks: Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any mark or domain name including the words Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any other variation oi such name;

(c) issue preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining
defendants and all persons acting in privity or in concert with them, from
any acts of trademark infringement in violation of the Lanham Act or
applicable state law, including, without limjtation, injunctions that direct
defendants to refrain from any advertisement, marketing or other use in
interstate commerce, including as a domain name, any of the following
marks: VY and INVINCEABLE, or any mark including the words,,Vy,,,
' INVlNCEABLE,', 'VtNCE YOUNG" or any vartation of such name;

(d) order cancellation and/or abandonment of Serial Nos.
78t86069, 78t86883; 78n86073, and 78t7868g2. Registration of Seriat No
78/935632.

(c) award plaintiffs damages as pennitted by law, costs,
reasonable atlorncys' fbcs, and; other and firthef reliefas this Court may deemjust
and proper.

COUNT 2 VIOLATIONS OF THE LANHAM ACT

62. Plaint i f fs re-al leges paragraphs l through 52 as paragraph

62 of  th is Count 2.

t3



63. Plaint i f f  has l icensed his name and l ikeness to UT, NFL,

VINCE yOUNG INC and other business ent i t ies.  These

ent i t ies have used Vincent paul  young JR. t rade name

"VY" and " in-v inceabIe" to promote their  entertajnment

services as wel l  as products.  Thus, the publ ic has come

to recognize ptaint i f f  Vy as 'Vy.  and In_vince_abte which

inures to the benef i t  of  p la int i f f  Vy.

64. Defendant RV entered into a contract  wi f l - r  Defendant EC

and Defendant TR wherein he soid an interest  in his intent

to use i fademark appl icat ions ZB17A6,O73, 7a/186eA2,

7B1786B83, ard 781786,073. Defendant RV, Deferdant EC

and Defendanl  TR then entered into a contract  that

created defendant JV ent i ty which hotds the interest  of  the

other defendants in the t rademark appl icat ions.

Addi t ional ly,  the cort fact  a lso provtoes an Interest  to

Attorney Doug Rom melm an.

65. Defendants RV and JV approa6hed manufactur ing

companres to manufacture products under the vy and

INVINCEABLE Marks.  Defendants RV and JV have

approached organizat ions to develop market ing strategies

for the ia, t roduct ion of  the marks for  into commefce.

Defendant RV and the JV contracted with a manufactur ing

company to produce Vy decals and T_Shir ts bear ing their

VY logo. The display of  T_Shir t  and Vy decats along with

14



the interfacing with market ing and manufactur ing

companies is l ikely to cause confusion among prospect ive

and actual  customers of  p la int i f fs

66. Defendants development,  market ing and product ion of  the

VY logo decal  is  confusingly s imi lar  to plaint i f fs VY logo

shield and Plaint i f f  VY mark that  i t  ls  l lkely to cause

confusion among prospect ive and actual  customers of

plaint i f fs.

67. Defendants at tempt to l icense VY Mark ls l ikely to cause

confusion among prospect ive and actual  customers of

plaint i f fs

68. Al though the foregoing defendant 's conduct may not

const i tute use for the purpose of  permit t ing registrat ion of

the mark as a t rademark under 15 USC 1051(a),  the

conduct does const i tutes a v io lat ion of  Sect ion 43(a) of

Lanham Act (15 USC 1 125(a)) .

69.  Defendant 's foregoing conduct is in v io lat ion of  the

Lanham Act,  15 U.S.C. S 1052(d) Sect ion 2(d) which

prohibi ts registrat ion on the pr incipal  regis ier  of  a mark

which "consists of  or  comprises a mark which so

resembles a mark registered in the Patent and Trademark

Off ice,  or  a mark or t fade name previously used in the

United States by another and not abaadoned, as to be

l ,kely,  when used on or in conneci ion wi th lhe goods of  the

15



appt icant,  to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to

deceive".

70. Unless enjoined and reshained by the Court, defendanrs are likely to

cngage in coDduct that will cause irreparable irjury to plaintiffs, for

which they have no rcmedy at law.

71. WHEREFORE, Piaintiffs pray that the Coud:

(a) declare, adjudge, and decree that use by Vy and Vy tNC,
and any oflheir respective agents or representatives, of the Vy and
INVINCEABLE trademark does not inf.inge any rights of defendant RV,
EC, TR and JV;

(b) declare,  adjudge and decree that defendants RV,
EC, TR and JV have no right, ti e and interest in the following marks: Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any mark or domain name including the words Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any other variatjon of such name including ,,VlNCE

YOUNG'' ;

(c) issue preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining

defendants and all persons acting in privity or in concert wjth them, from
any acts of trademark infringement in violation of the Lanham Act or
applicable state law, including, without limitation, injunctions that direct
defendants to refrain from any advertisement, marketing or other use in
interstate commerce, including as a domain name, any of the following
marks: VY and INVINCEABLE, or any mark inctuding the words ,,Vy,,,

"INVINCEABLE,' or any variation of such name;

(c) order cancellation and/or abandonment of Serial Nos.



78n86069, 781786883: 781786073, 7 8n86882. Order Serial

Number 7Bl935632 to be issued.

(d) award plaintiffs damages as permitted by law, costs,

reasonable attorneys' fees, and;

(e) other and further relief as this Court may deem just and
proper.

COUNT 3-Unfair Competition

72. Plaint i f fs re-al leges paragraphs t  through 52 as paragraph

72 of  th is count 3.

73. Defendant RV entered into a 60ntraci  wi th Defendant EC

and Defendant TR wherein he sold an interest  in his intent

to use trademark appt icat ions 78t7A6,073, 7B17868B2,

781786AA3, and 7A1786,073. Defendant RV, Defendant EC

and Defendant TR then entered into a contract  that

created defendant JV ent i ty which hotds the interest  of  the

other defendants in the t rademark app' jcat ions.

Addi t ional ly,  the contract  a lso provides an intefest  to

Attofney Doug Rom melman.

74. Defendants RV and JV approached manufactur ing

companies to manufacture products under the Vy and

INVINCEABLE I \ ,4ark6_ Defendants RV and JV have

approached organizat ions to develop market ing strategies

for the introduct ion of  the marks for  into commerce.

Defendant RV and the JV contracted with a manufactur ing
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75.

company lo produce VY decals and T-Shir ts bear ing their

VY logo. The display of  T-Shir t  and Vy decals along with

the interfacing with market ing and manufactur ing

compan;es is l ikely to cause confusion among prospect ive

and actual  customers of  p la int i f fs

Defendants development,  market ing and product ion of  the

VY logo decal  is  confusingty s imj lar  to plainI f fs Vy logo

shield and Plaint i f f  VY mark that  i t  is  t ikety to cause

confusion among prospect ive and actual  customers of

plaint i f fs.

Defendants at tempt to l icense Vy I \ rark is l ikely to cause

confusion among prospect ive and actual  customers of

pla int i f fs

Al though the foregoing defendani ,s 60nduct may not

const i tute use for the purpose of  permjt t ing c la iming

trademark r ights,  the conduct does const i tutes unfair

compet i t ion u nder Texas Law.

Unlcss enjoined and restained by rhe Court, defendants arc likely to

engage m conduct that will cause ilrepalabll- injury to plaintiffs, fol

which they have no remedy at law.

WHEREFORI. Plaintiffs pray thar the Court:

76.

77.
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79.

(a) declare, adjudge, and decree that use by Vy and Vy tNC,

and any oftheir respective agents or representatives, of the Vy and

INVINCEABLE trademark does not infringe any rights of defendant RV,



EC, TR and JV;

(b) dectare,  adjudge and decree that defendants RV,
EC, TR and JV have no rjght, tifle and interest in the following marks: Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any mark or domajn name jncluding the words Vy
and INVINCEABLE or any oiher variatjon of such name;

(c) issue preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining
defendants and all persons acting in prjvity or in concert with them, from
any acts of trademark infringement in violation of the Lanham Act of
applicable state law, including, without limitation, injunctions that direct
defendants to refrain from any advertisement, marketing or other use in
Interstate commerce, including as a domain name, any of the following
marks: VY and INVINCEABLE, or any mark including the words,,Vy,.
"INVINCEABLE," or any variation of such name including ,,VlNCE yOUNG"

(f) order cance ation and/or abandonment of Serial Nos.
78t86069, 78t86883 ; 7 8t7 8607 3, 7 8t7 868g2.

(g) award plaintif{s damages as permitted by law, costs,
reasonable attorneys, fees, and;

(h) other and further relief as this Court may deem just and
proper.
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80.

81.

COUNT 4-F€ud

Plaint i f fs re-al leges paragraphs l thfough 52 as pafagraph

80 of  ih is Count 4.

Upon information and belief, Defendant RV filed this apptication with the

inientjon of usurping plaintiffVy's prior right to use his Vy and

INVINCEABLE marks. Defendant RV filed his intent to use applications

approximaiely the same time plaintiff\ y was drafted inio the NFL. Vince

Young is currently well known in Natjonal Football League (NFL) as well

as In the consumer public. PlaintiffVY has used his lnitiats ,,\|/,, and is

known as INVINCEABLE for severalyears prior to ente ng the NFL_

Upon information and belief, Defendant RV made several false

misrepresentations in his application for registration of the \ry and

INVINCEABLE marks. Defendant RV made a misrepresentaiion that

he was the individual owner of the application at the time he fited the

intent to use applications. Defendant RV made a rnisrepresentation

that he had a bona fide ;ntent to use the marks_ Defendant RV made a

misrepresentation by omitting the fact that plainiiff Vy had propdetary

rights to the marks prior to him filing his intent to use apptications.

Defendani's iofegoing conduct constitutes a violation of 15 USC 1120

because Defendant RV is attempting to procure a registered rnaft by

fraud.

42.

83.
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84. Unless enjoined and rcshained by the Court, defendants are likely to

engage in conduct that will cause ireparable injury to plaintiffs, for

which they have no remedy at law.

85. WHEREFORE, Plaintifls pray fiat the Court:

(a) declare, adjudge, and decree that use by VY and VY lNC,

and any of their respective agents or representatives, of the VY and

INVINCEABLE trademark does not infringe any rights of defendant RV,

EC, TR and JV;

(b) declare that defendants committed fraud pursuant to 15

USC 1120 and plaintiffs are entitled to any damages sustained as a

conSequence thereof;

(c)  declare,  adjudge and decree that defendants RV,

EC, TR and JV have no right. title and interest in the following marks: Vy

and INVINCEABLE or any mark or domain name including the words Vy

and INVINCEABLE or any other variation of such name;

(d) issue preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining

defendants and all persons acting in privity or in concert with them, from

any acts of trademark infringement in violation of the Lanham Act or

applicable state Iaw, including, without limitation, injunctions that direct

defendants to refrain from any advertisement, marketing or other use in

interstate commerce, including as a domain name, any of the following

marks: VY and INVINCEABLE, or any mark including the words "Vy,',

"INVINCEABLE," or any variation of such name including "VtNCE yOUNG"

;
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91. Unless enjoined and restrained by the Coufi, defendants are likely to

engage m conduct that will cause ineparable injrry to plaintiffs, for

which lhe) ha\e Do remedy ar lau.

92. WHEREFORE, plainriffs pray that rhe Couft:

(a) declare, adjudge, and decree that use by Vy and Vy lNC,
and any of their respective agents or represenlattves, of the Vy and
INVINCEABLE trademark does not infringe any rghts ofdefendant RV,
EC, TR and JV;

(b) declare,  adjudge and decree that defendants
EC, TR and JV have no right, ti e and interest in the following marks:
and INVINCEABLE or any mark or domain name jncluding the words
and INVINCEABLE or any other variation of such name;

(c) issue preliminary and permaneni injunctjons restraining
defendants and all persons acting in privity or in concert with them, from
any acts of trademark Infringement in violation of the Lanham Act or
applicable state law, jncluding, without limitation, injunctions that direct
defendants to refrain from any adveftsement, marketing or other use in
Interstate commerce, including as a domain name, any of the followjng
marks: VY and INVINCEABLE, or any mark including the words,,Vy,"
"INVINCEABLE,,, or any vadation of such name inctuding ,VINCE yOUNG"

(i) order cancellation and/or abandonment of Serial Nos.
781786069, 78/786883; 7 At7 A60z3, 7A?86882

RV,

(r) award plaintiffs damages as permitted by law, costs,



reasonable attorneys, fees, and;

(k) other and further retief as thjs Court may deem just andproper.
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16. For these

followingi

L. praver

reasons, ptaintiff asks for judgment

a- Any damages permitted by law

b. Reasonable attorney fees_

c. Costs ofcourt.

d. All oiher relief ihe court deems appropriate.

Respectfu y submitted,

Dier€, iend by oe pn rt }hes

ffi*u, lna rnnl:nsd@&r

Delphine
James

/Delphine James/

Delphine James

Texas Bar Number 24010129

2626 South Loop West, Sujte 380

HousIon, TX 77054

Phone -713-661-4144

F ax-7'13-6614i 45

Attomey for Ptaintiff

against defendant for the
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